

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com

SciVerse ScienceDirect

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/yexcr



Review Article

Lipid signaling in the endothelium

Inbal Avraham-Davidi¹, Moshe Grunspan¹, Karina Yaniv^{2,*}

Department of Biological Regulation, Weizmann Institute of Science, Rehovot 76100, Israel

A R T I C L E I N F O R M A T I O N

Article Chronology: Received 23 December 2012 Accepted 7 January 2013 Available online 15 January 2013 *Keywords:* Endothelial

Angiogenesis Lipid

Contents

Introduction	1299
Lipoproteins	1299
Lipoprotein receptors	1299
LDL receptor (LDLR) family	1299
The scavenger receptor (SR) family	1300
Lipoprotein signaling in endothelial cells	
Low density lipoproteins-LDL	1300
High density lipoproteins-HDL.	1301
Lysophospholipids	1301
Lysophospholipid receptors	1302
LPA receptors	1302
S1P receptors	1302
Lysophospholipid signaling in endothelial cells	1302
Lysophosphatidic acid (LPA)	1302

^{*}Corresponding author. Fax: +972 8 9344116.

E-mail address: karina.yaniv@weizmann.ac.il (K. Yaniv).

¹ These authors contributed equally to this work.

² Incumbent of the Louis and Ida Rich Career Development chair.

^{0014-4827/\$ -} see front matter @ 2013 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2013.01.009

Sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P)	1302
Concluding remarks	. 1303
References	. 1303

Introduction

The unique position of endothelial cells (ECs), between the intravascular and extravascular spaces, has given them a wide variety of functions-the ability to sense, monitor and transfer molecules from plasma to surrounding tissues, and vice versa. Loss of these physiological functions is a critical step in the etiology of various clinical syndromes, such as atherosclerosis, thrombosis and disruption of the Blood Brain Barrier. In spite of being continuously exposed to circulating lipids and, in some cases to lipids that have accumulated in sub-endothelial regions, ECs were long thought to function as an inert barrier through which lipid exchange between the plasma and surrounding tissues occurs. An accumulating body of evidence however, indicates that lipids act directly on ECs, and activate intracellular signaling cascades [1]. This review will examine the receptors as well as signaling pathways activated in ECs by different lipid classes. It is useful to discuss these topics in terms of in vitro vs. in vivo findings, with particular emphasis on recent work, taking advantage of small animal models used to study lipid signaling in the endothelium.

Lipoproteins

All cells require a sufficient amount of lipids for the synthesis of the plasma membrane. Multicellular organisms have developed a specialized transport system for distributing lipids throughout the body. This system is based on lipoprotein particles that travel through the vasculature, reaching all organs. Lipoproteins are lipid-protein complexes composed of triacylglycerol lipids, phospholipids, cholesterol lipids, and an apoprotein molecule, which enables their mobilization in the plasma. There are several classes of lipoproteins, which can be classified by the ratio of lipids to apoproteins, their composition, size, density, and function. One traditional classification is based on the density at which lipoproteins float during ultracentrifugation, yielding the following categories: chylomicrons (CM); very low density lipoproteins (VLDL); intermediate density lipoproteins (IDL); low density lipoproteins (LDL); and high density lipoproteins (HDL). The density of lipoprotein particles is inversely related to their size, reflecting the relative contents of low-density, nonpolar core lipid, and high-density, surface protein [2]. Additionally, lipoproteins are classified on the basis of their apoprotein content. Proatherogenic lipoproteins generally contain ApoB. Among this group, LDLs are a well-known risk factor for the development of cardiovascular disease [3,4]. LDLs deposit cholesterol along the inside of artery walls, causing the formation of a cholesterol plaque, which leads to the onset of the pathology [5,6].

Lipoprotein receptors

Two receptor families are utilized by cells to bind and/or internalize native and modified lipoproteins from the extracellular fluid:

LDL receptor (LDLR) family

This family is composed of a large group of endocytic receptors that participate in cholesterol homeostasis, lipid metabolism and signal transduction [7]. All family members share common structural motifs unique to this family, including a single transmembrane domain and a short cytoplasmic tail [7,8]. Compared to "classical" signaling receptors, which often contain large intracellular domains with kinase activity, the cytoplasmic tails of LDLR family members are relatively short, with no kinase domains [9]. However, they contain critical elements that enable their interaction with a set of



Fig. 1 – Lipid signaling regulates EC behavior. Different lipid classes are indicated in blue, while their effects on EC behavior are listed within the cell illustration. \uparrow , induction; \downarrow , inhibition of the EC response. \uparrow/\downarrow , induction and inhibition are elicited by the same factor (e.g. via activation of different receptors). *, EC responses that were observed *in vivo*, under physiological conditions.

cytoplasmic adapter and scaffold proteins, thereby mediating signal transduction. For instance, activation of the ERK cascade in primary microglia and BV2 cells was observed upon stimulation of VLDLR and LRP1 [10], and LRP6 is a critical component in the Wnt signaling cascade [11–13].

The expression pattern of LDLRs is diverse, involving many cells in the body. *In vitro* and *ex vivo* assays have shown that some of these receptors are expressed in ECs as well [14–17]. However, the physiological relevance of these findings remains unclear Fig. 1.

The scavenger receptor (SR) family

The SR family of molecules is large, and structurally diverse. Collectively, the various receptors recognize many different ligands. The common trait characterizing SRs is their ability to bind modified LDLs, such as acetylated LDL (acLDL) and oxidized LDL (oxLDL) [18]. SR receptors are known to be expressed mainly by myeloid cells, ECs, and epithelial cells [19]. Furthermore, they participate in a range of physiological and pathological processes such as atherosclerosis [20–22] and Alzheimer's disease [23].

Lipoprotein signaling in endothelial cells

A large body of data accumulated during the past years, has revealed new roles for lipoproteins as signaling mediators in various cell types, operating at different levels and through various classic and non-classic mechanisms. For instance, in human and rat smooth muscle cells, as well as in human skin fibroblasts [24], LDL was shown to signal through a wide variety of signal transduction pathways (reviewed in [25]). In addition, lipoproteins are able to activate cellular processes by delivering precursors of intracellular steroid hormones [26,27], as well as by presenting morphogens to cells, as in the case of lipophorin, a member of the lipoprotein family, which is required for the long-range signaling activity of both wingless (Wg) and hedgehog (Hh) in Drosophila [28]. While the mechanisms of lipoprotein-mediated signaling have been extensively characterized in neurons, muscle cells and during embryonic development, the effects of lipoproteins on intracellular signal transduction in ECs have only been studied to a limited extent.

Low density lipoproteins-LDL

The link between Low density lipoproteins (LDLs), triglycerides (TGs) in particular, and coronary heart disease (CHD) was already established as long ago as the 1950s, when a few reports showed that fasting TGs (should be TG) levels were increased among patients with CHD [29-31]. Since these initial observations, intensive efforts have been geared towards understanding the nature of the interactions between lipoproteins and the endothelium. Early in vitro studies, dating from three decades ago, concentrated mainly on the metabolic aspects of this interaction, examining the ability of cultured ECs to metabolically modify LDL particles [32-34]. Only in recent years has the research focus shifted towards identifying individual signaling pathways within ECs, regulated by LDL. Here, we summarize data describing the effects of lipoproteins on ECs, with a special emphasis on more recent work on emerging in vivo animal models, enabling physiological examination of these interactions.

In vitro studies. Research carried out over the years has identified MEK–ERK [35], PKC [36], and G-protein coupled receptors (GPCR) [35] as direct targets of LDL in cultured ECs (reviewed in [25]). Studies performed on human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) have demonstrated that LDL activates the transcription factor activator protein-1 (AP1) via regulation of the JNK-c-Jun and p-38-ATF-2 signaling pathways [37–39]. In addition, LDL was shown to induce expression of vascular adhesion molecules such as vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) and E-selectin in human ECs [40,41]. These molecules play a key role in adhesion of atherosclerosis [42].

Many studies have demonstrated that oxidation of lipoproteins occurs in vertebrates, including humans [43,44]. While it has been reported that both LDLs and modified LDLs interact with ECs [45,46], it is not clear from in vitro results, whether they activate distinct signaling pathways, resulting in different cellular outcomes. For example both oxidized-LDL (ox-LDL) and native LDL, were shown to inhibit the wound-healing response of vascular ECs in vitro under different experimental settings [47,48]. Conversely, both native, and ox-LDL promote EC elongation and stress fiber formation, but only ox-LDL induces ECs membrane ruffling and promotes pinocytosis as well [49]. The fact that extensive oxidation of LDL results in the generation of novel epitopes on the ox-LDL particle, which are recognized by specific receptors such as LOX1 and the macrophage SRs, may account for the differences in the response of cultured ECs to native vs. ox-LDL [50]. Interestingly enough, both ox-LDL and LDL were shown to activate receptors that lie outside the "classic" LDL-binding receptors families, such as the EGF receptor [51] and VEGF receptor 1 [46]. These results further support a tight connection between lipoprotein metabolism and signaling in ECs. Since initial observations decades ago [30,31], a large body of literature has accumulated describing the effects of lipoproteins on cultured ECs. While these in vitro findings have helped establish the notion that LDL-dependent signaling pathways activated within ECs may lead to the endothelial dysfunction that precedes the onset of atherosclerosis, their in vivo relevance still remains controversial. The need to extend these findings to model organisms, in which lipoprotein and ECs biology can be evaluated simultaneously, in vivo is especially important in the case of coronary heart disease in which multiple risk factors seem to be implicated. Specifically, the stoichiometry and concentration of LDL particles in blood vessels represents a critical issue, which is difficult to accurately recapitulate in culture.

In vivo studies. The field of lipoprotein metabolism and atherosclerosis has dramatically expanded since the early 1990s, when several strains of genetically modified mice were developed as models for experimental hyperlipidemia [52]. The most typical example is the ApoE-deficient mouse, in which massive hyperlipidemia is accompanied by the development of severe atherosclerotic plaques at the aortic root, and throughout the aortic tree [53]. With the creation of additional mouse models of dyslipidemia (e.g. LDL receptor-, ApoB- and Mtp- knockout mice (reviewed in [54])), a solid body of evidence has emerged on the metabolic effects of lipids on the vasculature, and the progression of atherosclerotic lesion formation. Nevertheless, only a small fraction of these studies addressed the signaling pathways activated within endothelial cells, upon interaction with their direct role in macrophage accumulation. While the "artificial" hyperlipidemia induced in mice and rabbits enabled modeling of many aspects of human atherosclerosis, extrapolation of these results to understand the interaction between lipids and the endothelium under normal, physiological conditions, is often challenging. These limitations highlight the need for animal models permitting detailed analysis of lipid signaling in an intact organism. Recent work has begun to make use of small animal models (e.g. worms, flies, and zebrafish) to examine lipid homeostasis in vivo [56]. In particular, the high degree of conservation of the lipid transport machinery [57] makes genetic studies in zebrafish very attractive for uncovering novel mechanisms of lipoprotein metabolism and signaling in endothelial cells [47,57]. A recent study analyzing a zebrafish mutant defective in ApoB-lipoprotein assembly and secretion, uncovered a deleterious role for ApoB-lipoproteins as direct inhibitors of developmental angiogenesis [47]. This study demonstrated that ApoB-lipoproteins regulate the expression of VEGF receptor 1, leading to excessive or impaired angiogenesis. This kind of studies hold promise for identifying novel players involved in lipid signaling to the vasculature during embryonic development, which might be reactivated under pathological conditions. The zebrafish is also emerging as an advantageous model for the study of atherosclerosis. Zebrafish larvae fed a high fat diet show a remarkably high accumulation of lipids in the vascular wall, accompanied by morphological abnormalities in the endothelial monolayer [58,59] similar to those observed at the onset of atherosclerosis in higher vertebrates.

High density lipoproteins-HDL

High density lipoproteins (HDLs) undergo continuous remodeling in plasma and therefore constitute a heterogeneous population, which varies in density, size, shape, composition and surface charge (reviewed in [60]). The major apolipoprotein of HDL is ApoAI, which facilitates its many biological functions; namely lipid binding, cholesterol removal from peripheral cells, and the recognition of receptors in the liver and steroidogenic tissues. HDL carries a wide variety of biologically active lipids, among them lysosphingolipids (e.g., sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P), lysophosphatidic acid, and sphingophosphorylcholine, (reviewed in [61]). In addition, HDL serves as a transporter of several enzymes involved in plasma lipid metabolism, such as cholesteryl ester transfer protein, lecithin cholesterol acyl transferase, and phospholipid transfer protein [62].

Clinical and epidemiological studies have shown that in contrast to LDLs, HDL particles possess atheroprotective effects. One of the mechanisms by which HDLs are thought to protect against atherosclerosis is reverse cholesterol transport [63]. This pathway involves the removal and transport of excess cholesterol from cells to the liver for bile acid biosynthesis, biliary excretion, and recycling into new lipoproteins, or to steroidogenic tissues for steroid hormone production (reviewed in [64,65]).

In vitro studies. HDLs possess anti-inflammatory, anti-thrombotic and anti-oxidant properties, all of which promote endothelial repair [61]. Several of these properties are mediated through the activation of the Scavenger Receptor class B type 1 (SR-B1) signaling pathway

within ECs (reviewed in [66]). One of the main targets of HDL within the endothelium is nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) activity [67]. SR-BI and ApoAI play important roles in HDL-induced activation of eNOS [68], as demonstrated by the fact that antibodies against SR-BI or ApoAI completely abolish HDL effects in ECs [69]. HDL-induced eNOS stimulation is mediated through activation of the Src- signaling pathway [70]. HDL is also capable of triggering rearrangements of the actin cytoskeleton, and of inducing migration of ECs [71]. Interestingly, this activity is mediated by SR-BI activation of Rac GTPase, and is independent of nitric oxide synthase activation [68]. Finally, HDL exerts a protective effect against apoptosis in ECs. On the one hand, HDL can prevent TNF α -induced apoptosis of HUVECs, by decreasing CPP32-like protease activity [72]. On the other hand, HDL induces Akt phosphorylation, and subsequent phosphorylation and dissociation of BAD from BCL-XL, which then becomes available to inhibit the mitochondrial apoptotic pathway [73]. Of note, most of the functions of HDL uncovered using cultured ECs, were recapitulated in vivo.

In vivo studies. The role of HDL and SR-B1 *in vivo* was primarily examined in different mouse models of atherosclerosis. Expression of SR-B1 resulted in decreased atherosclerosis in LDLR and apoE knockout mice [74,75], thereby reproducing the atheroprotective role of HDL and SR-B1 observed in cultured ECs. Furthermore, re-endothelialization of carotid arteries after injury was impaired in SR-B1 null mice, compared to SR-B1-expressing controls [71]. In similar fashion, HDL-dependent activation of eNOS within ECs conferred a protective effect against hypercholesterolemia-related vascular dysfunction, observed in ApoE-/-; eNOS-/- knockout mice [76].

While the physiological relevance of *in vitro* studies assessing the effects of LDL on ECs remains uncertain, the opposite seems to be the case with HDL. This might be due to the fact that while HDL signaling to the endothelium is mediated almost solely by the SR-B1 receptor, LDL appears to signal through a wide variety of receptors that might be differentially expressed in different vascular beds. This high variability makes it difficult to draw solid conclusions from *in vitro* studies and highlights the need for the use of *in vivo* animal models.

In essence, the physiological role of lipoproteins as signaling mediators in ECs is only now beginning to be appreciated. Future studies combining the use of different animal models with the application of new technologies such as live imaging, lipidomic, and metabolomic analyses, are likely to shed light on the molecular pathways underlying lipoprotein-endothelial interactions. Furthermore, the resulting findings will be instrumental in clarifying the physiological relevance of the signaling pathways proven to operate in cultured ECs.

Lysophospholipids

Lysophospholipids are derivatives of glycero- or sphingophospholipids. The major bioactive forms of lysophospholipid are lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) and sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P). LPA and S1P circulate in blood, where they are bound to plasma proteins such as albumin, or embedded within lipoprotein particles [77]. They induce a wide variety of biological effects, typically through activation of cell-surface G-protein coupled receptors. LPA is produced mainly by platelets, through hydrolysis of lysophosphatidylcholine (LPC) by the secreted lysopholipase D (lysoPLD) autotaxin [78]. S1P, on the other hand, appears to be produced in all cells, with the major sources in the vascular system being hematopoietic cells (i.e., erythrocytes, platelets, mast cells, and leukocytes), as well as ECs [79–81].

Lysophospholipid receptors

LPA receptors

Five mammalian LPA receptors have been identified so far (LPA1-LPA5) [82]. LPA receptors activate at least four distinct G-protein families defined by their alpha subunits (G α_i , G $\alpha_{12/13}$, G $\alpha_{q/11}$ and G α_s) which, in turn, lead to the activation of multiple effector systems such as phospholipase C (PLC), the RAS–MAPK cascade, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K), and small GTPase RhoA, as well as to the inhibition of cyclic AMP accumulation (reviewed in [82]). Specifically in ECs, MAPK kinase/ERK, NF-kB, and calcium influx-dependent pathways were found to be activated in response to LPA treatment [83,84]. Individual LPA receptors (LPA1–3) appear to be dispensable for mouse embryonic vascular development, suggesting functional redundancy among these receptors [82].

S1P receptors

The existence of extracellular S1P receptors was postulated in the early 1990s [85]. Since the identification of the first S1P receptor, EDG-1 (S1P1) in 1998 [86], four other G-protein coupled receptors that specifically bind S1P (S1P2-5) have been identified in mammals [77]. S1P receptors were found to be expressed in many tissues and cell types, and considered to be involved in many physiological and pathophysiological processes. S1P1-3 are expressed in ECs and vascular smooth muscle cells, whereas the expression of S1P4-5 within the vascular system is still controversial [77]. S1P1 activation was shown to take place via G_i, which activates Ras-MAP kinase, the phosphoinositide (PI) 3kinase-Akt, and phospholipase C pathways. S1P2 and S1P3, on the other hand, are coupled to multiple G proteins: G_q and $G_{12/13}$ all of which can activate the phospholipase C and Rho pathways, in addition to the Gi-dependent pathways [87]. S1P1 knockout as well as endothelial-specific S1P1 knockout, lead to embryonic lethality due to pronounced defects in vascular maturation [88,89] (see below). S1P2 knockout mice are characterized by vascular dysfunction, whereas S1P3 knockout mice display no vascular phenotype [90]. Interestingly, the S1P receptors differ in their expression patterns. S1P1 and S1P3 are widely expressed in ECs, as opposed to S1P2, which is detected only in ECs of certain vascular beds, such as the retina and the ear [91]. The phenotypic abnormalities observed in these knockout mice provided important biological insights into the specific roles of the different S1P receptors in controlling important vascular functions such as vessel formation, vascular integrity and EC proliferation. Interestingly, while activation of S1P1 and S1P3 induces stimulatory signals, activation of S1P2, triggers mostly inhibitory signaling pathways [92]. This ability of S1P to induce diverse cellular outputs through activation of different receptors can serve as a mechanism to fine-tune blood vessel growth and behavior. For instance, S1P can induce EC migration through activation of S1P1, but can also inhibit it by activating S1P2 when EC migration is no longer required. This mode of action is also supported by the differential expression pattern of the receptors, which as a whole enables a wide combinatorial range of cellular outputs.

Lysophospholipid signaling in endothelial cells

Lysophosphatidic acid (LPA)

In vitro studies. LPA has been implicated in the proliferation and migration of ECs in vitro [93]. LPA-induced migration of bovine pulmonary artery endothelial (BPAE) cells was found to be mediated by the recruitment of hydrogen peroxide inducible clone 5 (Hic-5), a paxillin family member, to the focal adhesions of the ECs, via MEK activation of ERK [83]. In addition, LPA-induced migration of EAhy926 human ECs was traced to increased matrix metalloproteinase-2 (MMP-2) expression with concomitant activation of the MAPK kinase/ERK, NF-kB, and calcium influxdependent pathways [84]. LPA was also shown to decrease HUVEC permeability, by a mechanism that requires activation of RhoA and Rho kinase [94,95]. It is important to note that a tight connection was established between LPA and the VEGF signaling pathway. Ptaszynska et al. [96] demonstrated that VEGF stimulates ATX expression and consequent LPA production, as well as LPA1 signaling in HUVECs, through VEGFR2 binding [77]. Knockdown of ATX in HUVECs, on the other hand, resulted in reduced expression of LPA1, LPA2 and VEGFR2 as well.

The ability of ATX to stimulate motility in human coronary artery smooth muscle cells *in vitro*, and to induce tube formation in HUVECs [97], provided initial mechanistic insights into ATXinduced tumor angiogenesis *in vivo*.

In vivo studies. Although LPA receptor (LPA1-3) knockout mice show only moderate vascular defects such as occasional frontal hematomas, the link between LPA and vascular development is demonstrated by the phenotype of autotaxin (ATX/ Enpp-2)deficient mice [98]. ATX is necessary for hydrolysis of lysophosphatidylcholine (LPC), to generate lysophosphatidic acid (LPA). ATX-deficient mice do not survive beyond E9.5, and display profound vascular defects in the yolk sac and embryo that were attributed to the loss of LPA signaling through $G\alpha_{13}$ [98]. Autotaxin (ATX) was shown to modulate the behavior of normal ECs and VSMC, and to promote tumor vascularization [97]. In an *in vivo* Matrigel plug assay, injection of ATX-transfected NIH3T3 cells into athymic nude mice resulted in increased blood vessel formation, as compared to control cells [78,97].

In addition to its role in blood vessel growth, the LPA pathway was also shown to be involved in developmental lymphangiogenesis. LPA1 downregulation in zebrafish resulted in lymphatic defects, such as the absence of the thoracic duct, and pericardial edema [99]. This lymphangiogenic role of LPA was further supported by *in vitro* experiments, in which LPA induced the expression of vascular endothelial growth factor-C (VEGF-C) in HUVECs [100]. VEGF-C upregulation by LPA was shown to be NF- κ B-dependent, and partially regulated by COX-2. Many proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β and TNF- α were also shown to upregulate VEGF-C expression in HUVECs. These findings may suggest that under certain conditions (NF- κ B and COX-2 activation), LPA can act as a pro-inflammatory cytokine, to promote lymphangiogenesis.

Sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P)

In vitro studies. Initial *in vitro* studies focused on the role of S1P in the regulation of EC integrity [77]. S1P was shown to

maintain EC barrier integrity primarily by activation of S1P1, which in turn strengthened EC junctions [101]. Activation of S1P2, on the other hand, resulted in disruption of adherens junctions, and increased paracellular permeability [91]. The role of S1P3 in endothelial barrier function remains under debate [77]. Using cultured mouse allantois explants, Argraves et al. [102] uncovered an additional role for S1P in EC migration. In this case, S1P1/3 receptors were found to induce EC migration through activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (p38 MAP Kinase) [103], G_i, and Rho signaling [104]. Conversely, S1P2 activation was shown to inhibit EC migration via PTEN phosphatase, in a Rho GTPase-dependent manner [105]. Finally, activation of S1P1/3 resulted in enhanced EC proliferation, through activation of ERK [103].

In contrast to other lipid classes, the identification of S1P receptors specifically expressed in ECs has enabled extensive research on S1P signaling to the endothelium *in vivo*. Through the use of both mouse and zebrafish, the intricate functions and interactions of S1P signaling within ECs are beginning to be elucidated.

In vivo studies. S1P1-null embryos die in utero between E12.5 and E14.5, as a result of severe bleeding. Initial formation of the vascular network, as well as angiogenesis in these mice, appeared normal. Therefore, the vascular abnormalities observed in these animals were originally attributed to a defect in the association of mural cells with ECs [88,89]. Recently however, three independent reports [81,106,107] described novel ECautonomous roles for S1P1. Using S1P1 knockout mice, mice bearing endothelial specific deletion of S1P1, and zebrafish, Shoham et al. [81] demonstrated that S1P1 negatively regulates sprouting angiogenesis during vascular development. This function of S1P1 was independent of the presence of pericytes, as both severe aberrations in vessel size and excessive sprouting were found in limbs of S1P1-null mouse embryos, prior to vessel maturation. Further analysis of S1P1-Vegfa, and S1P1-Hif1a double knockout embryos at E11.5 [81] indicated a genetic interaction between S1P1 and VEGF-A, and suggested that these factors may function in concert to regulate vascular development: VEGF-A promotes sprouting, whereas S1P1 inhibits it, to prevent excessive sprouting and fusion of neo-vessels. In a broader sense, because the S1P ligand is blood-borne, these findings suggest a new mode of regulation of angiogenesis, whereby blood flow closes a negative feedback loop that inhibits sprouting angiogenesis, once the vascular bed is established and functional. This role of S1P1 was further supported by experiments carried out using a mouse retina model [106]. S1P1 was also shown to be essential for fluid shear stress signaling in ECs. Of note, this function of S1P1 was activated not only by S1P but also by laminar shear stress in a ligand-independent manner, to transduce flowmediated signaling in ECs. Additional insights into the mechanism of action of S1P1 were provided by Gaengel et al. [107], who showed that S1P1 and VEGF-A play opposing roles in VEcadherin localization at endothelial junctions: While VEGF triggers a decrease in junctional VE-cadherin, S1P stimulation leads to increased junctional VE-cadherin, with concomitant inhibition of angiogenesis and stabilization of the vasculature. According to this study, S1P1 signaling acts as a vascular-intrinsic stabilization mechanism, protecting developing blood vessels against aberrant angiogenic responses via two critical routes: stabilization of junctional VE-cadherin, and inhibition of VEGFR2 phosphorylation and downstream signaling.

LPA and S1P signaling were shown to interact with various other signaling pathways (e.g., PDGF). The physiological and pathological importance of these crosstalks are discussed elsewhere, in greater depth [77,96].

Concluding remarks

Lipid-endothelial interactions are directly linked to atherosclerosis, thrombosis and other cardiovascular diseases. The recognition that lipids can exert a wide variety of cellular outputs besides serving as mere structural polypeptides and cellular fuel has provided tremendous motivation for the study of the signaling cascades activated by lipids within ECs. The establishment of new genetic tools in mice, enabling EC specific gene deletion, together with the use of small animal models to examine endothelial-lipid interactions in vivo, has already facilitated great progress in the field. Nevertheless, many important questions still remain controversial. For instance, the specific receptors through which certain lipid classes (e.g. LDL) induce their biological effects within ECs have not yet been identified, hampering the attempts to study their downstream signaling pathways. Additionally, putative interactions between lipids and known angiogenic factors/receptors (for instance LDL and VEGFR1) are being revealed, which raise questions regarding alternative mechanisms through which lipids may modulate angiogenic responses especially under pathological conditions. An additional layer of complexity when studying the endothelial response to lipid stimuli is the fact that ECs are heterogeneous in regards to the expression of lipid receptors. This variation may derive from the specific functions of different host tissues with distinct metabolic needs. Finally, while ECs possess the machinery required to oxidize lipid derivatives (i.e. fatty acids), energy production by fatty acid oxidation seems to account for only very little of the ATP generated by ECs, which are in essence highly glycolytic. Future studies will most likely be directed at exploring both the metabolic and signaling aspects of lipid-endothelial interactions, as well as the link between these two processes that seem to be much more interlaced than previously thought.

REFERENCES

- D.J. Rader, K.A. Dugi, Semin. Thromb. Hemost. 26 (2000) 521–528.
- [2] D.S. Fredrickson, Harvey Lect. 68 (1974) 185-237.
- [3] R.A. Hegele, Nat. Rev. Genet. 10 (2009) 109–121.
- [4] S. Kathiresan, D. Srivastava, Cell 148 (2012) 1242-1257.
- [5] A.J. Lusis, Nature 407 (2000) 233–241.
- [6] P. Libby, P.M. Ridker, G.K. Hansson, Nature 473 (2011) 317–325.
- [7] Y. Li, J. Cam, G. Bu, Mol. Neurobiol. 23 (2001) 53-67.
- [8] G.W. Go, A. Mani, Yale J. Biol. Med. 85 (2012) 19-28.
- [9] H. Jeon, S.C. Blacklow, Annu. Rev. Biochem. 74 (2005) 535-562.
- [10] A. Pocivavsek, M.P. Burns, G.W. Rebeck, Glia 57 (2009) 444-453.
- [11] K.I. Pinson, J. Brennan, S. Monkley, B.J. Avery, W.C. Skarnes, Nature 407 (2000) 535–538.
- [12] K. Tamai, M. Semenov, Y. Kato, R. Spokony, C. Liu, Y. Katsuyama, F. Hess, J.P. Saint-Jeannet, X. He, Nature 407 (2000) 530–535.

- [13] M. Wehrli, S.T. Dougan, K. Caldwell, L. O'Keefe, S. Schwartz, D. Vaizel-Ohayon, E. Schejter, A. Tomlinson, S. DiNardo, Nature 407 (2000) 527–530.
- [14] A.M. Fogelman, J.A. Berliner, B.J. Van Lenten, M. Navab, M. Territo, Semin. Thromb. Hemost. 14 (1988) 206–209.
- [15] K.L. Wyne, K. Pathak, M.C. Seabra, H.H. Hobbs, Arteriosclerosis Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 16 (1996) 407–415.
- [16] H.A. Multhaupt, M.E. Gafvels, K. Kariko, H. Jin, C. Arenas-Elliot, B.I. Goldman, J.F. Strauss 3rd, B. Angelin, M.J. Warhol, K.R. McCrae, Am. J. Pathol. 148 (1996) 1985–1997.
- [17] T.P. Hiltunen, J.S. Luoma, T. Nikkari, S. Yla-Herttuala, Circulation 97 (1998) 1079–1086.
- [18] A. Pluddemann, C. Neyen, S. Gordon, Methods 43 (2007) 207–217.
- [19] V. Terpstra, E.S. van Amersfoort, A.G. van Velzen, J. Kuiper, T.J. van Berkel, Arteriosclerosis Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 20 (2000) 1860–1872.
- [20] M. Febbraio, E.A. Podrez, J.D. Smith, D.P. Hajjar, S.L. Hazen, H.F. Hoff, K. Sharma, R.L. Silverstein, J. Clin. Invest. 105 (2000) 1049–1056.
- [21] T. Goyal, S. Mitra, M. Khaidakov, X. Wang, S. Singla, Z. Ding, S. Liu, J.L. Mehta, Curr. Atherosclerosis Rep. (2012).
- [22] N. Kamada, T. Kodama, H. Suzuki, J. Atherosclerosis Thromb. 8 (2001) 1–6.
- [23] J.B. El Khoury, K.J. Moore, T.K. Means, J. Leung, K. Terada, M. Toft, M.W. Freeman, A.D. Luster, J. Exp. Med. 197 (2003) 1657–1666.
- [24] T. Scott-Burden, T.J. Resink, A.W. Hahn, U. Baur, R.J. Box, F.R. Buhler, J. Biol. Chem. 264 (1989) 12582–12589.
- [25] I. Gouni-Berthold, A. Sachinidis, Curr. Vasc. Pharmacol. 2 (2004) 363–370.
- [26] E.V. Entchev, T.V. Kurzchalia, Semin. Cell. Developmental Biol. 16 (2005) 175–182.
- [27] V. Matyash, E.V. Entchev, F. Mende, M. Wilsch-Brauninger, C. Thiele, A.W. Schmidt, H.J. Knolker, S. Ward, T.V. Kurzchalia, PLoS. Biol. 2 (2004) e280.
- [28] D. Panakova, H. Sprong, E. Marois, C. Thiele, S. Eaton, Nature 435 (2005) 58–65.
- [29] M.J. Albrink, E.B. Man, Conn. State. Med. J. 20 (1956) 974-981.
- [30] J.W. Gofman, H.B. Jones, F.T. Lindgren, T.P. Lyon, H.A. Elliott, B. Strisower, Circulation 2 (1950) 161–178.
- [31] J.W. Gofman, F. Lindgren, Science 111 (1950) 166-171.
- [32] T. Henriksen, E.M. Mahoney, D. Steinberg, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 78 (1981) 6499–6503.
- [33] I. Vlodavsky, P.E. Fielding, C.J. Fielding, D. Gospodarowicz, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 75 (1978) 356–360.
- [34] P.E. Fielding, I. Vlodavsky, D. Gospodarowicz, C.J. Fielding, J. Biol. Chem. 254 (1979) 749–755.
- [35] I. Gouni-Berthold, S. Seewald, J. Hescheler, A. Sachinidis, Cell Physiol. Biochem. 14 (2004) 167–176.
- [36] D. Li, B. Yang, J.L. Mehta, Am. J. Physiol. 275 (1998) H568-576.
- [37] Y. Zhu, J.H. Lin, H.L. Liao, O. Friedli Jr., L. Verna, N.W. Marten, D.S. Straus, M.B. Stemerman, Arteriosclerosis Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 18 (1998) 473–480.
- [38] Y. Zhu, H.L. Liao, N. Wang, O. Friedli Jr., L. Verna, M.B. Stemerman, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1436 (1999) 557–564.
- [39] Y. Zhu, H. Liao, N. Wang, K.S. Ma, L.K. Verna, J.Y. Shyy, S. Chien, M.B. Stemerman, Arteriosclerosis Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 21 (2001) 1159–1164.
- [40] Y. Zhu, H.L. Liao, J.H. Lin, L. Verna, M.B. Stemerman, Atherosclerosis 144 (1999) 357–365.
- [41] S. Allen, S. Khan, F. Al-Mohanna, P. Batten, M. Yacoub, J. Clin. Invest. 101 (1998) 1064–1075.
- [42] R.M. Faruqi, P.E. DiCorleto, Br. Heart J. 69 (1993) S19-29.
- [43] S. Parthasarathy, A. Raghavamenon, M.O. Garelnabi, N. Santanam, Methods Mol. Biol. 610 (2010) 403–417.
- [44] L. Fang, R. Harkewicz, K. Hartvigsen, P. Wiesner, S.H. Choi, F. Almazan, J. Pattison, E. Deer, T. Sayaphupha, E.A. Dennis,

J.L. Witztum, S. Tsimikas, Y.I. Miller, J. Biol. Chem. 285 (2010) 32343-32351.

- [45] F. Parhami, Z.T. Fang, A.M. Fogelman, A. Andalibi, M.C. Territo, J.A. Berliner, J. Clin. Invest. 92 (1993) 471–478.
- [46] R. Usui, M. Shibuya, S. Ishibashi, Y. Maru, EMBO Rep. 8 (2007) 1155-1161.
- [47] I. Avraham-Davidi, Y. Ely, V.N. Pham, D. Castranova, M. Grunspan, G. Malkinson, L. Gibbs-Bar, O. Mayseless, G. Allmog, B. Lo, C.M. Warren, T.T. Chen, J. Ungos, K. Kidd, K. Shaw, I. Rogachev, W. Wan, P.M. Murphy, S.A. Farber, L. Carmel, G.S. Shelness, M.L. Iruela-Arispe, B.M. Weinstein, K. Yaniv, Nat. Med. 18 (2012) 967–973.
- [48] G. Murugesan, G.M. Chisolm, P.L. Fox, J. Cell Biol. 120 (1993) 1011–1019.
- [49] S.E. Chow, R.S. Lee, S.H. Shih, J.K. Chen, FASEB J. 12 (1998) 823–830.
- [50] S. Mitra, T. Goyal, J.L. Mehta, Cardiovasc. Drugs. Ther. 25 (2011) 419–429.
- [51] I. Suc, O. Meilhac, I. Lajoie-Mazenc, J. Vandaele, G. Jurgens, R. Salvayre, A. Negre-Salvayre, FASEB J. 12 (1998) 665–671.
- [52] E. Maganto-Garcia, M. Tarrio, A.H. Lichtman, Curr. Protocol Immunol. 15 (24) (2012) 11–23 Chapter 15.
- [53] S.H. Zhang, R.L. Reddick, J.A. Piedrahita, N. Maeda, Science 258 (1992) 468–471.
- [54] S. Fazio, M.F. Linton, Front. Biosci. 6 (2001) D515-525.
- [55] Y. Nakashima, E.W. Raines, A.S. Plump, J.L. Breslow, R. Ross, Arteriosclerosis Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 18 (1998) 842–851.
- [56] A. Schlegel, D.Y. Stainier, PLoS Genet. 3 (2007) e199.
- [57] A. Schlegel, D.Y. Stainier, Biochemistry 45 (2006) 15179–15187.
- [58] K. Stoletov, L. Fang, S.H. Choi, K. Hartvigsen, L.F. Hansen, C. Hall, J. Pattison, J. Juliano, E.R. Miller, F. Almazan, P. Crosier, J.L. Witztum, R.L. Klemke, Y.I. Miller, Circulation Res. 104 (2009) 952–960.
- [59] L. Fang, S.R. Green, J.S. Baek, S.H. Lee, F. Ellett, E. Deer, G.J. Lieschke, J.L. Witztum, S. Tsimikas, Y.I. Miller, J. Clin. Invest. 121 (2011) 4861–4869.
- [60] K.H. Cho, BMB Rep. 42 (2009) 393-400.
- [61] A.M. Scanu, C. Edelstein, FASEB J. 22 (2008) 4044-4054.
- [62] P. Barter, J. Kastelein, A. Nunn, R. Hobbs, Atherosclerosis 168 (2003) 195–211.
- [63] G.F. Lewis, D.J. Rader, Circulation Res. 96 (2005) 1221-1232.
- [64] M. Krieger, Annu. Rev. Biochem. 68 (1999) 523–558.
- [65] J.C. Escola-Gil, N. Rotllan, J. Julve, F. Blanco-Vaca, Atherosclerosis 206 (2009) 321–327.
- [66] A. Al-Jarallah, B.L. Trigatti, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1801 (2010) 1239–1248.
- [67] C. Mineo, P.W. Shaul, Trends Cardiovasc. Med. 17 (2007) 156–161.
- [68] X.A. Li, W.B. Titlow, B.A. Jackson, N. Giltiay, M. Nikolova-Karakashian, A. Uittenbogaard, E.J. Smart, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 11058–11063.
- [69] I.S. Yuhanna, Y. Zhu, B.E. Cox, L.D. Hahner, S. Osborne-Lawrence, P. Lu, Y.L. Marcel, R.G. Anderson, M.E. Mendelsohn, H.H. Hobbs, P.W. Shaul, Nat. Med. 7 (2001) 853–857.
- [70] C. Mineo, I.S. Yuhanna, M.J. Quon, P.W. Shaul, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 9142–9149.
- [71] D. Seetharam, C. Mineo, A.K. Gormley, L.L. Gibson, W. Vongpatanasin, K.L. Chambliss, L.D. Hahner, M.L. Cummings, R.L. Kitchens, Y.L. Marcel, D.J. Rader, P.W. Shaul, Circulation Res. 98 (2006) 63–72.
- [72] M. Sugano, K. Tsuchida, N. Makino, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 272 (2000) 872–876.
- [73] J.R. Nofer, B. Levkau, I. Wolinska, R. Junker, M. Fobker, A. von Eckardstein, U. Seedorf, G. Assmann, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 34480–34485.
- [74] K.F. Kozarsky, M.H. Donahee, J.M. Glick, M. Krieger, D.J. Rader, Arteriosclerosis Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 20 (2000) 721–727.

- [75] O. Kocher, A. Yesilaltay, C.H. Shen, S. Zhang, K. Daniels, R. Pal, J. Chen, M. Krieger, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1782 (2008) 310–316.
- [76] P.J. Kuhlencordt, R. Gyurko, F. Han, M. Scherrer-Crosbie, T.H. Aretz, R. Hajjar, M.H. Picard, P.L. Huang, Circulation 104 (2001) 448–454.
- [77] M. Schuchardt, M. Tolle, J. Prufer, M. van der Giet,
 Br. J. Pharmacol. 163 (2011) 1140–1162.
- [78] L.A. van Meeteren, W.H. Moolenaar, Prog. Lipid Res. 46 (2007) 145–160.
- [79] R. Pappu, S.R. Schwab, I. Cornelissen, J.P. Pereira, J.B. Regard, Y. Xu, E. Camerer, Y.W. Zheng, Y. Huang, J.G. Cyster, S.R. Coughlin, Science 316 (2007) 295–298.
- [80] T. Hla, K. Venkataraman, J. Michaud, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1781 (2008) 477–482.
- [81] A.B. Shoham, G. Malkinson, S. Krief, Y. Shwartz, Y. Ely, N. Ferrara, K. Yaniv, E. Zelzer, Development 139 (2012) 3859–3869.
- [82] S.T. Teo, Y.C. Yung, D.R. Herr, J. Chun, IUBMB Life 61 (2009) 791–799.
- [83] C. Avraamides, M.E. Bromberg, J.P. Gaughan, S.M. Thomas, A.Y. Tsygankov, T.S. Panetti, Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circulation Physiol. 293 (2007) H193–203.
- [84] W.T. Wu, C.N. Chen, C.I. Lin, J.H. Chen, H. Lee, Endocrinology 146 (2005) 3387–3400.
- [85] T. Hla, Semin. Cell Developmental Biol. 15 (2004) 513-520.
- [86] M.J. Lee, J.R. Van Brocklyn, S. Thangada, C.H. Liu, A.R. Hand, R. Menzeleev, S. Spiegel, T. Hla, Science 279 (1998) 1552–1555.
- [87] Y. Takuwa, Y. Okamoto, K. Yoshioka, N. Takuwa, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1781 (2008) 483–488.
- [88] Y. Liu, R. Wada, T. Yamashita, Y. Mi, C.X. Deng, J.P. Hobson, H.M. Rosenfeldt, V.E. Nava, S.S. Chae, M.J. Lee, C.H. Liu, T. Hla, S. Spiegel, R.L. Proia, J. Clin. Invest. 106 (2000) 951–961.
- [89] M.L. Allende, T. Yamashita, R.L. Proia, Blood 102 (2003) 3665–3667.
- [90] I. Ishii, B. Friedman, X. Ye, S. Kawamura, C. McGiffert, J.J. Contos, M.A. Kingsbury, G. Zhang, J.H. Brown, J. Chun, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 33697–33704.
- [91] T. Sanchez, A. Skoura, M.T. Wu, B. Casserly, E.O. Harrington, T. Hla, Arteriosclerosis Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 27 (2007) 1312–1318.
- [92] I. Inoki, N. Takuwa, N. Sugimoto, K. Yoshioka, S. Takata, S. Kaneko, Y. Takuwa, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 346 (2006) 293–300.

- [93] H. Lee, E.J. Goetzl, S. An, Am. J Physiol. Cell Physiol. 278 (2000) C612–618.
- [94] J.S. Alexander, W.F. Patton, B.W. Christman, L.L. Cuiper, F.R. Haselton, Am. J. Physiol. 274 (1998) H115–122.
- [95] G.P. van Nieuw Amerongen, M.A. Vermeer, V.W. van Hinsbergh, Arteriosclerosis Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 20 (2000) E127-133.
- [96] M.M. Ptaszynska, M.L. Pendrak, M.L. Stracke, D.D. Roberts, Mol. Cancer Res. 8 (2010) 309-321.
- [97] S.W. Nam, T. Clair, Y.S. Kim, A. McMarlin, E. Schiffmann, L.A. Liotta, M.L. Stracke, Cancer Res. 61 (2001) 6938–6944.
- [98] L.A. van Meeteren, P. Ruurs, C. Stortelers, P. Bouwman, M.A. van Rooijen, J.P. Pradere, T.R. Pettit, M.J. Wakelam, J.S. Saulnier-Blache, C.L. Mummery, W.H. Moolenaar, J. Jonkers, Mol. Cell. Biol. 26 (2006) 5015–5022.
- [99] S.J. Lee, T.H. Chan, T.C. Chen, B.K. Liao, P.P. Hwang, H. Lee, FASEB J. 22 (2008) 3706–3715.
- [100] C.I. Lin, C.N. Chen, M.T. Huang, S.J. Lee, C.H. Lin, C.C. Chang, H. Lee, Cell Signal 20 (2008) 1804–1814.
- [101] J.G. Garcia, F. Liu, A.D. Verin, A. Birukova, M.A. Dechert, W.T. Gerthoffer, J.R. Bamberg, D. English, J. Clin. Invest. 108 (2001) 689–701.
- [102] K.M. Argraves, B.A. Wilkerson, W.S. Argraves, P.A. Fleming, L.M. Obeid, C.J. Drake, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 50580–50590.
- [103] T. Kimura, T. Watanabe, K. Sato, J. Kon, H. Tomura, K. Tamama, A. Kuwabara, T. Kanda, I. Kobayashi, H. Ohta, M. Ui, F. Okajima, Biochem. J. 348 (Pt 1) (2000) 71–76.
- [104] T.S. Panetti, J. Nowlen, D.F. Mosher, Arteriosclerosis Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 20 (2000) 1013–1019.
- [105] T. Sanchez, S. Thangada, M.T. Wu, C.D. Kontos, D. Wu, H. Wu, T. Hla, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 102 (2005) 4312–4317.
- B. Jung, H. Obinata, S. Galvani, K. Mendelson, B.S. Ding,
 A. Skoura, B. Kinzel, V. Brinkmann, S. Rafii, T. Evans, T. Hla,
 Developemental Cell 23 (2012) 600–610.
- [107] K. Gaengel, C. Niaudet, K. Hagikura, B.L. Siemsen, L. Muhl, J.J. Hofmann, L. Ebarasi, S. Nystrom, S. Rymo, L.L. Chen, M.F. Pang, Y. Jin, E. Raschperger, P. Roswall, D. Schulte, R. Benedito, J. Larsson, M. Hellstrom, J. Fuxe, P. Uhlen, R. Adams, L. Jakobsson, A. Majumdar, D. Vestweber, A Uv, C Betsholtz, Developmental Cell 23 (2012) 587–599.